ATIONS CCPR

. Distr.
International covenant GENERAL
on civil and
.. . CCPR/ C/ SR. 1676
political rights 28 Sept enber 1998
ENGL| SH

Oiginal: FRENCH

HUVMAN RI GHTS COWM TTEE
Sixty-third session
SUMMARY RECORD OF THE 1676t h MEETI NG

Hel d at the Palais des Nations, Geneva,
on Wednesday, 15 July 1998, at 3 p.m

Chai rperson: M. CHANET
later: Ms. MEDI NA QUI ROGA

|ater: M. CHANET

CONTENTS

CONSI DERATI ON OF REPORTS SUBM TTED BY STATES PARTI ES UNDER ARTI CLE 40 OF
THE COVENANT (conti nued)

Initial report of Israel (continued)

This record is subject to correction.

Corrections should be submitted in one of the working | anguages. They
shoul d be set forth in a nmenorandum and al so incorporated in a copy of the
record. They should be sent within one week of the date of this docunent to
the Oficial Records Editing Section, roomE. 4108, Palais des Nations, Geneva.

Any corrections to the records of the public nmeetings of the Commttee
at this session will be consolidated in a single corrigendum to be issued
shortly after the end of the session

GE. 98- 16924 (E)



CCPR/ C/ SR. 1676
page 2

The neeting was called to order at 3.05 p.m

CONSI DERATI ON OF REPORTS SUBM TTED BY STATES PARTI ES UNDER ARTI CLE 40 OF
THE COVENANT (agenda item 4) (continued)

Initial report of Israel (CCPR/ C/81/Add.13, CCPR/ C/63/Q ISR/ 1) (continued)

1. The CHAI RPERSON invited Conmmittee members to continue their questions on
items 1 to 10 of the list of issues.

2. M. LALLAH, while joining other Conmittee nenbers in thanking the
Israeli delegation for a report which contained a wealth of detailed

i nformation, and for the hel pful manner in which it had been presented,
regretted having had insufficient tine to nmake an in-depth study of the
report, which was very dense and had arrived too late. He wi shed, first of
all, to enphasize the Covenant's place in donmestic |law. He pointed out that,
followi ng the Covenant's entry into force for Israel in January 1992, two
Basi ¢ Laws had been adopted, one on hunman dignity and |liberty, the other on
freedom of occupation. Like common |aw countries, Israel had not thought it
advi sable to enact a |law or text that specifically enshrined the rights
recogni zed in the Covenant, relying heavily on case law to ensure their
enforcenent. Certain common | aw countries, such as the United Kingdom had
very soon recogni zed the need for a witten text to give effect to the

provi sions of the Covenant. The task of judges was greatly facilitated when
they had a law to guide themin enforcing legislation. It would therefore be
useful for the State party to consider laying down in a single instrunent the
provi sions of the Covenant which it had undertaken to enforce. Not only were
the two Basic Laws adopted since the Covenant's entry into force inadequate,
but the second, the | aw on freedom of occupation, contained a provision
whereby a new cl ause could not apply to a | aw adopted in the year follow ng
the Basic Law s entry into force. That highly restrictive provision called
for clarification

3. Wth regard to the territorial application of the Covenant, he could not
subscribe to the Israeli authorities' viewthat the State of Israel was not
obliged to report on the inplenentation of the Covenant in the territories
that had passed to the Palestinian Authority. The granting of admi nistrative
autonony in no way relieved Israel of its responsibility for the territories
under international law. The rights enshrined in the Covenant bel onged to

i ndi viduals. He hoped that Israel's next report would deal with

i mpl enentati on of the Covenant throughout the territories.

4, Upon ratifying the Covenant, Israel had entered a reservation to
article 23, on the ground that in Israel matters of personal status were
governed by the religious |aws of the parties concerned and that, insofar as
those |l aws were inconsistent with its obligations under the Covenant, |srae
reserved the right to enforce them Wile article 23 did deal with the famly
and marriage, the religious |aws could inpinge on wonmen's rights in areas
other than private life, particularly their participation in the conduct of
public affairs (art. 25). He asked whether any studies had been conducted on
the subject. At the time of ratification |Israel had al so nmade a decl aration
regardi ng the perpetuation of the state of energency since May 1948. The

I sraeli Governnent had al so indicated in that declaration that Israe



CCPR/ C/ SR. 1676
page 3

derogated fromits obligations under the provisions of article 9 of the
Covenant, inplying that only article 9 was affected. He sought clarification
as to whether other fundanental rights, such as the right to life, the right
to be treated with dignity while in detention, and the right to a fair trial
wer e not di m ni shed.

5. Lord COVILLE al so wel coned the Israeli del egation, which had presented
a very detailed report. Two extrenely encouragi ng aspects were the
transparency with which the report had been presented and the opportunity

af forded to non-governnental organizations to make an input. He would limt
his remarks to the state of emergency, which had remained in force ever since
the British Mandate and therefore continued to cause concern. Fromthe

Uni ted Kingdomls experience with the terrorismranpant in Northern Ireland,
enforcenent of energency |laws should be kept to a minimum It was therefore
difficult to see why energency regul ati ons extended to certain economc
sectors, as nentioned in paragraph 115 of the report. Furthernore, since the
Knesset was call ed upon to renew the powers conferred by the emergency

provi sions every year, did it first receive a report justifying the continued
application of the energency provisions?

6. VWhile the Israeli del egation had explained that the renewal of

adm ni strative detention could be challenged and revi ewed, he knew that the
review concentrated on the propriety of the detention neasure and not on the
merit. Although adm nistrative detention was also practised in the Wst Bank
and the Gaza Strip, the report was silent on that matter. He had seen an
adm ni strative detention order bearing the signature of a colonel, which
showed menbership of a particular organization as the notive. |t was unclear
why, if persons placed in admnistrative detention were reputed to threaten
the life of the nation, they were not tried as suspected crimnals in the
ordinary courts, the only effective way of fighting terrorism Lastly, he
wonder ed whet her adm ni strative detention orders were nonitored by the
Knesset .

7. Ms. MEDINA QUI ROGA, returning to the questions asked by other Commttee
menbers concerning i nplenentati on of the Covenant in the occupied territories
and the Bedouins' living conditions, said she would conmrent on the application
of the state of emergency. The energency provisions were not properly enacted
under Israeli law, which did not spell out the circunstances in which a state
of emergency could be declared. Since the Covenant was not directly

i mpl enmented in Israel, that om ssion raised problens with regard to article 4
of the Covenant. Adm nistrative detention was authorized by the powers
conferred under the state of energency, and military order 1229 of 1988
established the possibility of challenging an admi nistrative detention order

t hrough a superior officer. Perusal of the records of hearings clearly showed
that those renedies did not deal with the nmerit of the accusation - because of
the confidential nature of the subject, anbng other things - and that it was
therefore a purely fornmal review That procedure was all the nore al arm ng
since it was exactly the way the mlitary tribunals in Chile had operated
during the dictatorship. In addition, a six-nmonth adm nistrative detention
order could be constantly renewed, so that a person eventually served a
sentence wi thout ever going to trial, in violation of article 14 of the
Covenant. It also energed fromthe report that the 1992 Basic Law. Human
Dignity and Liberty could not be invoked and had no effect on previously




CCPR/ C/ SR. 1676
page 4

enacted | egislation. She asked the delegation to explain how that

adm ni strative detention procedure could be considered conpatible with
articles 2, 12 and 14 of the Covenant, and with article 7, considering as she
did that such a long period of detention without trial constituted cruel and
i nhurman treat nent.

8. The authors of the report had stressed that the right to equal treatnent
was tantanmount to a suprene constitutional rule. That statenent was
contradicted by a nunber of facts that emerged fromthe report itself, from

t he del egation's statenents and frominformation supplied by non-governmenta
organi zations. Accordingly, there was real discrimnation in the area of
mlitary service, the funding of religious institutions (para. 544), the
application of certain Jewish laws to the entire arny (para. 549 (h)), form of
worship (para. 558), the possibility of changing one's religion (para. 567)
and in matters of marriage and divorce (paras. 576, 577, 696 and 702).

Mor eover, the manner in which Arab women could acquire citizenship was
discrimnatory, and there was evident discrimnation in admnistrative
detention, to which Jew sh settlers were rarely subjected. There was no
general |aw prohibiting discrimnation, and the narrowi ng of the gap between
the living conditions of Arabs and Jews seened to have halted in 1996. No
affirmative action was being taken in favour of Arabs, recognized as

di sadvant aged by everyone, even in Israel, and there was no institutiona
mechani sm for enforcing | abour |egislation. The situation of wonmen was marked
by wi despread discrimnation. Despite the delegation's contention that
measur es had been taken, the incidence of violence agai nst wonen continued to
be very high: according to the Israeli police, 200,000 wonen had been the
victinms of such violence in 1994. The traffic in wonen for purposes of
prostitution was an acknow edged practice, and nothing was bei ng done to

i nprove the situation of Arab wonen. The npst inportant aspect was the
probl em of the personal |aws which established discrimnation in matters of
marri age, divorce, child custody and inheritance. Moreover, those |aws were
enforced by religious tribunals, fromwhich women were excluded. |srael had
entered a reservation with regard to article 23 (right of the famly to
protection), justified by the existence of religious personal |laws. Such a
sweepi ng reservation raised serious questions, and could even conproni se the
very purpose of the Covenant and the international human rights protection
instruments. Many articles of the Covenant, especially articles 18 and 14,
could thus be jeopardized. She saw no justification for such a broad
reservation, which appeared to consolidate discrimnation against a section
of the popul ation. She asked the delegation to shed light on the matter

9. M. BHAGMTI wel comed the very detailed report, but regretted that he
had not had nmore tine to study it. Thus far, the dialogue with the del egation
had, all in all, been rewarding. Like Lord Colville, he regretted the fact

that the rights enshrined in the Covenant were not set forth in a specific

| aw, because the two Basic Laws far fromsufficed to give effect to all the
rights protected in the Covenant. The Governnent should consider pronulgating
a bill of rights, as several conmon | aw countries had done or were envi sagi ng.
He had read with dismay that no | aw adopted by the Knesset coul d be chal |l enged
after a certain nunber of years. He hoped he had m sunderstood, because a | aw
that would run counter to the Covenant should be chall engeable at any tine.



CCPR/ C/ SR. 1676
page 5

10. There was a great deal to be said about the issue of adm nistrative
detention already raised by other Conmttee menbers. |If it was true, as the
Israeli authorities claimed, that adm nistrative detention was necessary for
combating terrorism- which he doubted - it was essential that safeguards be
provided. A review by senior officers was obviously not sufficient and it was
i nportant that a judicial nmechanismbe put in place. Admnistrative detention
orders could be renewed every six nonths for years on end, making it possible
for sone people to be detained for a five-year period. It was noteworthy,
however, that only Pal estinians remained in detention for such |ong periods,
since Jewi sh settlers placed in adnministrative detention were never held for
nmore than six nonths. That was discrinmnatory treatnment, all the nore

evi dent since, according to information supplied by the non-governnmenta
organi zations, in the past five years 5,000 Pal estinians had been placed in
adm nistrative detention as opposed to a nmere 11 Jew sh settlers. Such

di scrimnation called for corrective nmeasures. The sane could be said of the
daily lives of the East Jerusalem Arabs; a mnisterial conmttee report,
excerpts fromwhich had been published in the 2 Novenber 1995 issue of the
Jerusal em Post, clained that the Arab popul ati on of East Jerusal em had been
totally neglected by the de facto Governnent and was experiencing grave
econom c problens, in addition to a conplete |ack of physical infrastructure.
According to the non-governnental organizations, 14,000 Jews occupied

100 settlements in the Negev region and possessed 1.2 mllion dunums and

300 mllion cubic netres of water, while 110,000 Bedouins lived in 7 towns
and 30 settlements without access to water or farm and. Those were al
exanpl es of discrimnatory treatnent for which a solution could be found if
the State of Israel had a bill of rights.

11. M. POCAR said he wished to take up two issues which called for

expl anations that could be useful fromthe juridical viewpoint. The first
concerned the enforceability of the Covenant in the occupied territories. In
that connection, the question was not whether different sets of rules were
applicable to different territories, but of recalling that, fromthe nonent
the Covenant was ratified, it was applicable to all territories over which the
State party exercised control, even de facto control. It would also be
interesting to discover whether other provisions of international |aw,
especially humanitarian | aw, were enforced, in addition to the Covenant,

in certain areas, in view of the special situation prevailing there.

12. The second question concerned the state of emergency. Upon ratifying
t he Covenant, Israel had nade a decl aration on the existence of a state of
energency since 1948. One m ght wonder what interpretation should be put on
that statement, now that the 19 May 1948 | aw on the state of energency had
been abrogated and replaced by new provisions whereby the Knesset could
declare a state of energency for one year. Inasmuch as the Knesset had
exerci sed that power in 1996 and 1997, he wi shed to know whet her the
Secretary-General of the United Nations had been infornmed, pursuant to
article 4 of the Covenant, since a new declaration was involved; the

i nternational comunity had a right to know which articles were being
derogated from and the scope of the derogation, in order to ascertain whether
the conditions laid down in paragraphs 1 and 2 of article 4 were being
fulfilled.



CCPR/ C/ SR. 1676
page 6

13. The CHAI RPERSON invited the Israeli delegation to reply to the various
guestions asked by Committee nenbers.

14. M. SCHOFFMAN (Israel) said that in connection with the negotiations for
the self-determi nation of the Pal estinians, all issues (land, water, etc.)
were exam ned without preconditions, as had occurred during the negotiations
with Egypt. The position adopted at Oslo was that self-determ nation would be
realized with the nutual consent of both parties, and everything suggested
that things would nove in that direction. Wth regard to the Covenant's
enforceability, Israel did not deny its responsibility for the rights of the

i nhabitants of the occupied territories or the Israeli arny's actions there.
Neverthel ess, its reporting responsibility could not extend to the territories
for the sinple reason that areas such as newspaper |icences or freedom of
religion were a matter for the Palestinian Authority alone. One solution
woul d be for the report to be presented by a joint delegation, but he doubted
whet her the Pal estinians would agree to appear before the Conmittee al ongside
representatives of the Israeli Governnent. In any event, Israel would not
fail to provide all the information it could nuster concerning the
territories. Wth regard to the general obligations deriving from
international |aw, as opposed to the reporting obligation pursuant to

article 40 of the Covenant, Israel had always fulfilled its obligations under
t he Geneva Conventions, even when the occupation of the territories had been
total. In his country's view, it was international humanitarian |law, wth al
its attendant guarantees, that applied to the territories, rather than the
system establ i shed by the Covenant; there were definite differences in the
two protection systens, which neant that they could not be superinmposed.

15. In reply to a question on a possible nechanismto nonitor Israel’'s
fulfilment of its obligations, he drew attention not only to the interna

noni toring procedures of the judicial authorities and the Mnistry of Justice,
but also to the possibility of recourse to the courts, notably the Supreme
Court, for any injury sustained following an Israeli action. All States
parties and organs were also obliged to respect the rights enshrined in the
Basi ¢ Laws, including the right to human dignity.

16. The popul ation statistics provided at the previous neeting related to
citizens and permanent residents of the State of Israel and did not include
Pal estinians living in the territories. Building permts were issued by
Israel in zones A and B, which were honme to 97 per cent of the popul ation, and
by the Pal estinian Authority in the sparsely popul ated zone C. However, that
situation was |ikely to change shortly since the current period was one of
transition.

17. It was difficult for his delegation to respond to questions relating to
i nformati on provided by the non-governnmental organizations cited by Commi ttee
menbers, since it had had no previous know edge of it. It could, however,

state that, in known cases of discrimnation, in the provision of goods and
services, the conpetent authorities had issued instructions to crack down on
those responsi ble, pursuant to the laws in force. There were nunerous cases
in which victinms of discrimnation had received conpensation, and remedies did
exi st. For instance, when a teachers' association to which |and had been

al l ocated had decided to apportion lots only to persons who had perfornmed



CCPR/ C/ SR. 1676
page 7

mlitary service - in other words, exclusively to Jews - the matter had been
referred to the Suprene Court and the Departnent of Public Prosecution had
guashed the decision even before any judicial ruling had been issued.

18. On the subject of the use of Hebrew and Arabic, it was w shful thinking
to expect the | anguage of a mnority group to be equal in status to the

| anguage of the mpjority of the population. That being said, Arabic was being
i ncreasingly used and the persons in charge of Arab schools, adm nistered |ike
Jewi sh establishnents by the Mnistry of Education, were quite at liberty to
set the syllabuses. Mre enphasis was placed on Arab culture and history and
on the Muslimreligion

19. The ombudsman's duties were perfornmed by the State Conptroller, who
recei ved conpl ai nts and nmade recomendati ons, which were usually inplenented.
He was totally independent of the Executive Branch. |In addition to the
Conptroller, there was a High Court of Justice, to which any person who
considered hinself injured could appeal directly wi thout the need for a

| awyer's services. The Bedouins of the north had the right to vote in
muni ci pal el ections and elected their representatives to the regi onal bodies.
Those of the south did not have the right to vote because there was no

regi onal administrative body. However, that situation was |likely to change
soon.

20. One Comittee nenber had asked whether |srael planned to enact a | aw
based on the Covenant. Deliberations had in fact been held within the
M nistry of Justice in 1989 with a view to the preparation of a draft bill of

rights, based on the Canadi an nodel; however, its enactnment was encountering
political obstacles arising fromconplex historical events. Human rights and
fundanmental freedons were protected by the Basic Law. Human Dignity and

Li berty, enacted in 1992, according to the interpretation put on it by judges.
Legi sl ation al so abounded in crimnal |aw, and established, anobng other
things, that a person arrested nust be brought before a judge within 24 hours
and nmust have access to a |awyer; the institution of a public defender's
office was to be extended to the entire country by the end of 1998. Many
principles set forth in the Covenant existed in Israel's |aws, w thout
appearing in the Bill of Rights.

21. The application of the state of energency had given rise to questions.
Emer gency neasures were used in sone cases to |legislate on and neet short-term
needs, for instance when the country was confronted with a massive influx of

i mm grants and needed to alter its plans, or to address a new housi ng
situation. Such neasures did not entail derogation fromthe rights set forth
in the Covenant, nor did they constitute violations of the Covenant. Certain
energency regul ations mght infringe human rights, but in some cases they
protected them as during the Gulf War when neasures had been taken to protect
the rights of workers. Enmergency regul ations were sonetinmes used in the event
of a strike by State agents, in order to provide a mninum health service and
ot her energency services, matters on which the trade unions did not really

wi sh the Governnent to legislate. It was true that the proclamation of the
state of energency had tw ce been extended and that the State of Israel had
not notified the Secretary-General, doubtless owing to a msinterpretation of
article 4 of the Covenant; it had understood that it needed to notify the
date on which the derogations were term nated, whereas suspension of the



CCPR/ C/ SR. 1676
page 8

application of that article was still in force. The situation with regard to
monitoring of the declaration of the state of enmergency had altered
significantly in 1996. Since that tinme, if the Governnent wi shed to renew the
declaration, it needed to submt the request to the Knesset before the initia
period had expired. The Knesset had set up a joint commttee (Constitution
Law and Justice) which had requested the Mnistry of Justice to present a
report with a full listing of the | aws governing energency measures and ot her
measures relating to the state of emergency. As a result, the State and the
Government were accountable, with the aimof avoiding a nove towards a

per manent state of energency. The Knesset received i nputs and opinions not
only fromits own committees, but also from non-governmental organizations.

22. On the subject of adm nistrative detention, his del egati on was eager to
clear up a m sunderstanding: an appeal against the adm nistrative detention
measure was possible in respect not only of the nerit but also the procedure,
as evidenced by various exanples. The appeal was |odged first with the
President of the District Court, then with the Supreme Court. Furthernore,
the judge was called upon not only to exanmi ne, but also to approve, the

adm ni strative detention nmeasure. |In reality, the detention was ordered

by the adm nistrative authority but needed to be upheld by the judicia
authority, which examned its nerit. The Suprenme Court had been known to

i nvalidate an adm nistrative detention nmeasure. Admnistrative detention was
ordered in cases where the aimwas to avoid a trial in the ordinary (crimnal)
courts, when information supplied by informers could not be divulged at a
public hearing. One could well imagine that a Palestinian testifying in court
for the prosecution against another Pal estinian was risking his |life, hence
recourse to administrative detention

23. As to whether the Knesset exercised surveillance over the territories,
he said it was obvious that it did not make laws for the territories, but
could seek information and summon a ninister to answer deputies' questions and
attend conmittee hearings. In addition NGOs submnitted conmunications to the
Knesset, which al so sutmmoned officials fromthe Mnistry of Defence to give
clarifications. Administrative detention nmeasures taken in the territories
had to be referred to the judicial authority for consideration

24, The fact that the Arab minority in Israel was not conscripted had been
i nvoked as an act of discrinination. However, the debates in the Knesset
showed that that mnority was in favour of the status quo. A plan was afoot
to create conpul sory and universal national service which would bestow on
persons performing their mlitary service the same rights as nmenbers of the

army.

25. Wth regard to the loss of Israeli nationality through marriage to
soneone residing in the territories, there had i ndeed been cases in which
worren in that situation had been asked to renounce their nationality.
However, nationality could not be automatically relinquished and for quite
some time wonen had no | onger been asked to relinquish their nationality.
Consequently, an Israeli citizen marrying a resident of the territories did
not |l ose that nationality.

26. Ref erence had been nade to discrimnination between Jews and Arabs with
regard to renewal of administrative detention neasures. That form of



CCPR/ C/ SR. 1676
page 9

detention was only used when absolutely essential; furthernore, the overal
nunbers of detainees had fallen considerably. No specific statistics on
det ai ned Arabs were available. Even though there were disparities between
Jews and Arabs in Israel, it should also be noted that Arabs residing in

I srael enjoyed the sane rights as Israelis with regard to the nationa

i nsurance scheme, nedical protection and other social security benefits.

27. M. BLASS (Israel) said that | oans totalling 100 mllion new Israel
shekel s had been allocated for East Jerusalemin 1997 for construction of new
roads, a sewerage system and, nore generally, works that had been neglected in
previ ous years. The question of the Bedouins in the Negev had been raised
again. Hi s delegation had not clainmed that there was parity or equality

bet ween Jews and Arabs in access to services, but had said that an effort

was being nmade to redress the situation as far as possible, under the new

bl uepri nt which covered nore municipal authorities.

28. Ms. Medina Quiroga took the Chair.

29. The CHAIRPERSON invited the Israeli delegation to continue its replies
to the witten questions in the list of issues (CCPR C/63/Q ISR 1).

30. M. BLASS (Israel), replying initially to the first two questi ons under
item 11 concerning the right to life and the prohibition of torture and ot her
cruel, inhuman or degrading treatnent or punishnent, said that his del egation
woul d restrict its remarks to the Israeli security forces, which were
responsi bl e for sonme deaths, w thout supplying precise figures about the
nunber of Pal estinians or mnors under 18 who had died. According to data
supplied by the Israeli Defence Forces, between 1987 and 1997, the years of
the intifada, approximtely 100 Pal estinians had been killed in incidents

i nvol ving the security forces. Several hundred Israeli soldiers and civilians
had al so died as a result of Pal estinian aggression

31. Hi s del egation had no precise figures for conplaints filed in connection
with State agents' unjustified use of firearns, but they had been numerous.
The information avail abl e concerned prosecutions in the mlitary tribunals
over the past 10 years: sone 50 soldiers had been tried in the mlitary
courts for using their weapons in a manner contrary to military instructions.
In some cases death or injury had been inflicted, even on children. Those
statistics did not enconpass policenen, or nenbers of the border patrols or

ot her security forces. Consequently, the nunmber of charges was hi gher than
menti oned, and nobst persons accused had been convicted, except for a handfu
who had been acquitted.

32. He could not tell the average sentence passed on those convicted of such
actions, because each sentence had to be placed in the context of the act,
during which the perpetrator was often being stoned, threatened by Ml otov
cocktails, or in peril of his |ife. However, soldiers and nenbers of the
security forces had orders to use weapons with the utnmost caution. Sentences
consi sted of inprisonment or suspended inprisonment and possi bl e denotion.
Victinms could be conpensated if they brought a successful civil redress
action. \While his delegation did not know how many petitions had been
submitted, it could supply the total ampbunt of the indemities paid to



CCPR/ C/ SR. 1676
page 10

Pal esti ni ans since the beginning of the intifada, which was approxi mtely

100 mllion shekels, or over $30 million. He should point out that the
victinms allowed some tine to el apse before submitting their conpensation
clainms, which had nmultiplied in recent years; accordingly, sone

28 million shekels in damages had been paid to Palestinians in 1997 al one.

G ving sone specific exanples of sentences inposed on persons tried and found
guilty, he first nentioned the case of a sergeant found guilty of negligent
hom ci de (punishable with 3 years' inprisonnment) who had been sentenced to

9 nmonths in prison and 21 nonths' suspended inprisonment. The second person
convi cted of homi ci de had been sentenced to one and a half years in prison, in
addition to one and a half years' suspended inprisonment; the third sol dier
found guilty of honicide had been sentenced to one year in prison and

two years' suspended inprisonnment; a |lieutenant found guilty of negligent
hom ci de had been sentenced to six nmonths' inprisonment, and another officer
found guilty of negligent honm ci de had been sentenced to three nonths

i mpri sonment and six nonths' suspended inprisonnment. Those were the harshest
sent ences passed on soldiers; other penalties were usually lighter. However,
whet her the sentences were inprisonnent or denption, they showed that the
Israeli authorities took those occurrences greatly to heart.

33. The | ast question asked under item 11 concerned the possible effect of

t he proposed Intifada Conpensation Law, which the CGovernnent had submtted to
t he Knesset one year earlier. That draft |law was currently being studied by a
Knesset committee; it was not known when the study woul d be concl uded or what
its outconme would be. While it was, therefore, too soon to go into the
details of the text, it did preserve the right to appeal to the courts for
reparation, but specified new rules for exam nation of those petitions. As it
was, a new situation had arisen since the interimagreenment and the w thdrawa
of the Israeli Defence Forces fromthe areas inhabited by Arabs. Wen a

Pal estinian subnmitted a request for conpensation to a district court in Israe
on the ground that a soldier had fired on himfive years earlier when he was
wal ki ng al ong m nding his own business, it was very difficult to verify his
statements, since the Israeli authorities no | onger had access to Pal estinian
hospitals in Nablus, Hebron or Gaza, nor to the medical files; they could
neither call Pal estinian witnesses nor even visit the site to ascertain

whet her the plaintiff's description was accurate. The rules of evidence

t herefore needed to be adapted to the new situation created by the Israel
forces' withdrawal fromthe Palestinian territories. Mreover, in Israel such
petitions could be filed within 7 years after the events; when the victimwas
a mnor under 18 years of age, the 7-year period started when he reached the
age of 18. It was therefore likely that the authorities would be receiving
such compl aints for nany years to come, thus rendering verification difficult.

34. Turning to item 12 on the list, and the first question concerning the
conpatibility of the use of physical and psychol ogi cal pressure during
interrogation with the provisions of article 7 of the Covenant, he pointed out
that it had been covered in the periodic reports submtted by Israel to the
Committee against Torture and in replies to the questions raised by that
Conmittee. It was no secret that the State of Israel was having to conbat
terrorist organizations that threatened the Iives of innocent persons and that
the interrogations conducted by the General Security Service (GSS) were



CCPR/ C/ SR. 1676
page 11

one mani festation of the struggle against those organi zations, their aim being
to di scover in advance the plans of the terrorist groups: bonbs, Ml otov
cocktails, use of firearns, suicide squads and car bonbs.

35. At the sane tinme, Israel was doing its utnost to observe acceptable
norms consistent with the Covenant and the Convention against Torture. To
preserve the lives of persons in Israel, Jews, Arabs, tourists and others,
whil e respecting the dignity of the person under interrogation, posed a
veritable dil emma, because an interrogation could not be conducted like a
normal conversation between two adults, in which one answered the other's
guestions. People under arrest on suspicion of terrorist acts were specially
trained not to answer questions during interrogation; they refused to reply
because they did not wish to do so. |If the Israeli authorities conducted an
interrogation as though it were an ordinary conversation, they would be
failing in their duty to preserve the security and lives of the people in

Israel. The Israeli position was that by no | egal standard whatever did the
i nterrogati on nmethods enpl oyed by the General Security Service to forestal
acts of terrorismconstitute acts of torture or cruel, inhuman or degradi ng

treatment. Mreover, Israeli crimnal |aw prohibited the practice of torture,
and the Supreme Court had invoked that law in many of its cases.

36. GSS interrogati on nethods could not be described in broad terns because
certain techniques were not always used - their use depended, rather, on the
exi gencies of the situation - and the decision was taken by the hierarchica
superiors. The Landau Comm ssion's guidelines authorized the use of a
noder at e degree of pressure on persons under interrogation. The Landau

Conmi ssion had al so nentioned the existence of the International Covenant on
Civil and Political Rights inits report (of 1987), while specifying that the
State of Israel was not bound by that instrument, which it had not yet
ratified. The guidelines for GSS personnel suggested that the interrogator
was not at liberty to inflict pressure tantanmount to acts of torture or
grievous harmto the person's dignity or honour (“pressure nust never reach
the |l evel of physical torture or maltreatnent of the suspect ... which
deprives himof his human dignity”).

37. The interrogations conducted by the GSS actually saved |ives and averted
terrorist acts, as attested to by the fact that some interrogations had served
to uncover the plans of particular terrorist groups, and then to dismantle
them It cited the cases of groups that had prepared to | aunch suicide bonb
attacks on markets and in bus stations in Jerusalem Tel Aviv, Haifa, Tiberias
and Eilat, to occupy enbassies, kidnap soldiers and abduct em nent academ cs
or nedia figures. The methods approved by the Landau Commi ssion in 1987 could
not be disclosed for obvious security reasons. The strength of the security
service in a denocracy was contingent upon the secrecy of interrogation
procedures. Mreover, States parties had no obligation under the Covenant to
publicize their interrogation nethods, which would help terrorist groups by
enabling themto prepare for questioning. His delegation neverthel ess
conceded that in certain cases a person under interrogation was handcuffed,

whi ch coul d be unconfortable; a bag could be placed over his head to prevent
him from recogni zi ng other persons in the sane room and he could be deprived
of sleep, although never for protracted periods. Lastly, the method whereby a
suspect being questioned was shaken was rarely used.



CCPR/ C/ SR. 1676
page 12

38. Hi s del egation could not supply figures concerning detainees in |Israe
and the occupied territories who had been subjected to the approved

i nterrogati on nmethods, not knowi ng in which year the period under

consi deration should begin. In any event, ever since the beginning of the
Gsl o process the number of detained persons subjected to interrogation had
fallen spectacularly. They were now essentially nmenbers of terrorist

organi zati ons such as Hamas and the Islam c Jihad, inasnuch as Fatah had
renounced terrorismto join the peace process with the Palestinians. He had
no exact figures regarding the nunbers of detainees in Israel and the occupied
territories subjected to nethods of pressure approved by the General Security
Service, but assured the Cormittee that ever since the start-up of the GCslo
process they had been declining spectacularly. Detainees currently subjected
to that type of interrogation were nostly nmenbers of the Islamc Jihad and
Hamas terrori st organizations.

39. In response to the question of how often the Suprene Court had refused
applications fromthe General Security Service to set aside an injunction
restraining the use of those nethods, he said that as a general rule the
appeal to the Supreme Court was nade by the detainee hinself, or sometimes by
his | awer, who, before he had even seen his client or |earned whether he was
bei ng subjected to physical pressure, called for an interimorder to prevent
such pressure. The Suprene Court reacted within a very short tinme (48 hours
at the nost) and summobned those responsible for the investigation, who were
required to explain the interrogati on nethods they enployed. The Suprene
Court often issued an interimorder prohibiting physical coercion. It was
rare indeed for the State security bodies to file a petition with the Suprene
Court to set aside its ruling. He believed they had done so in three or

four cases only; in at |east one of themthe Supreme Court had rejected the
petition.

40. He coul d not say precisely when the |atest mnisterial guidelines on the
use of special interrogation nmethods had been adopted or what those guidelines
contai ned, but pointed out that those texts were reviewed every three nonths.

41. Ms. Chanet resuned the Chair

42. M. SCHOFEMAN (Israel), replying to the questions referring to item 13
of the list, explained first of all that his delegation could only supply

i nformati on on the cases of persons detained by the Israeli security forces,
but not in regard to those that cane under the Pal estinian Authority. Any

person inprisoned or detained - in the occupied territories or in Israel - by
the Israeli police or arnmy, the Ceneral Security Service, the Border Police or
the Prisons Service could file a mstreatnent conplaint. In that connection

he referred Cormittee nenbers to table 9 of the report (CCPR/ C/ 81/ Add. 13),
whi ch covered conpl aints of unlawful use of force by police officers and
i nvestigation results.

43. The sane conpl aint and investigation procedures applied to the remedies
avai |l abl e to persons who had been victins of ill-treatnent at roadbl ocks or
during house searches. |If the persons in question were border guards, nenbers
of the General Security Service or policenen, the investigation was conducted
by a special departnent of the Mnistry of Justice. |If they were soldiers,
the procedure cane under the Arny Crimnal Investigation Division. Persons



CCPR/ C/ SR. 1676
page 13

claimng to be victins of ill-treatnment were entitled to conpensati on, which
they could claimin the occupied territories before the clains officer; they
could also take the matter to an Israeli civil court.

44. M . BARDENSTEIN (lIsrael), replying to the first question under item 14
of the list, explained that the report of the State Conptroller's Ofice dealt
with the situation in the Gaza Strip between 1988 and 1992, and that the
territory was currently under the jurisdiction of the Palestinian Authority.
That having been said, the |l aw authori zed the Knesset to refrain from
publishing the State Conptroller's report for the reasons it determ ned.
Contrary to normal practice, the 1995 report had not been published by the
conpetent parlianmentary sub-conmttee. The authors of the report had noted

a nunber of disparities between the interrogation nmethods enployed in the
Gaza Strip and the Landau Conm ssion guidelines, and considered that the
General Security Service investigation unit had not displayed the degree of
integrity expected of an essential State security body. The parlianentary
sub-comrittee had nade a close study of the report's findings and had
formul at ed concl usi ons and preci se recomendati ons, nost of which had already
been i mpl emented. However, it had decided to keep the report confidential for
security reasons. Follow ng a nunber of neetings with senior officials of the
bodi es concerned, the sub-commttee had decided that the CGeneral Security
Service had patently | earned |lessons fromthe scrutiny of its activities,
notably by establishing an oversight, supervision and follow up procedure

to ensure observance of the provisions and restrictions to be applied in
interrogations. It had further determ ned that the frequency of deviations
fromthe Landau Conmi ssion guidelines could not be tol erated and nmust not be

i gnored by the authorities. On the one hand, it considered that in the |ight
of the circunstances and the gravity and i mm nence of danger, the Cenera
Security Service's investigation unit should enjoy all the resources needed
to combat terror, including effective methods of interrogation designed to
prevent terrorist attacks. However, the sub-committee stressed that Israe
must strive to maintain an inmage of a society informed by the principles of
respect for human rights, dignity and welfare.

45, In response to the question on the renedi es avail abl e before the
creation of the Departnent for Investigation of Police Msconduct, he said
that they had been both civil and criminal. 1In the event of a conplaint,

t he police had opened an investigation and comuni cated the results to the
Department of Public Prosecution. |In addition, the suspect had enjoyed

i medi ate access to the Suprene Court at every stage of an interrogation

46. A part of the draft | aw designed to inplenent the Gol dberg Cormittee's
recommendati ons, which dealt with the availability of retrial, had been
adopted, thus amending the Courts Law. In that connection, he referred
Committee nenbers to the paragraphs of the report (CCPR/ C/81/Add. 13)
concerning enforcenment of article 14 of the Covenant, especially

par agr aph 458. Al so, the section of the Gol dberg Cormittee's recomrendati ons
whi ch concerned the efficacy of convictions based solely or alnost solely upon
t he defendant's confession had been incorporated into a draft [aw currently
before the mnisterial commttee on legislation. In any event, that draft |aw
did not envisage invalidating the Landau Comnri ttee guidelines.



CCPR/ C/ SR. 1676
page 14

47. M. BLASS (lsrael), replying to questions under item 15 of the |ist,
said that segregation was a preventive neasure that could be inposed by the
prison authorities for reasons connected with State security, maintenance of
security or order and discipline in prison or to protect the safety or health
of the person concerned or of other prisoners. It was not a punitive nmeasure
and did not therefore circunscribe the rights and privil eges of those subject
toit. The Prison Regulations established that that nmeasure could not be
applied to a detainee for nore than 14 days if he could be transferred to

anot her establishment. The neasure could only be extended beyond 14 days

by order of the prison warden, and in the event of a period exceeding

eight nmonths, with the agreenment of the Comm ssioner of Prisons. By and

| arge, the person segregated was incarcerated with other detai nees who did not
put his Iife in peril. He could take daily wal ks and receive famly visits,
but in a separate place. Solitary confinenent was a disciplinary measure that
could be inposed on a detainee who violated the regulations, and could only be
ordered by the prison warden or his deputy, followi ng an investigation and a
hearing in the prisoner's presence. The maxi mum duration of solitary

confi nenent was 14 days, but it could not be inposed on a prisoner for nore
than seven consecutive days, followed by an interval of at |east seven days.

48. M . BARDENSTEIN (lIsrael), replying to questions under item 16 of the
list, said that there were a nunber of |egislative provisions for the
protecti on of women who were forced to work as prostitutes as a result of
coercion or fraud. The main problemwas that the authorities were not always
aware of those situations, since the wonen were reluctant to file conplaints.
However, it sufficed for someone to report such a situation to the police for
a crimnal action to be set in train. |In addition, a number of private bodies
provi ded | egal assistance to the victinms, whose nunbers had regrettably grown
in recent years. One such organi zation, which had existed in Israe

since 1995, was a branch of the International Abolitionist Federation, which
concerned itself exclusively with prostitution-related matters. Lastly, a
nunber of governnmental and municipal services could also help women who were
victinms of that type of situation

49. M. SCHOFEMAN (Israel), replying to questions asked under item 17 of the
list, said that the six-nonth period of adm nistrative detention could be
extended indefinitely, but that each extension nmust be approved by the

Presi dent or Deputy President of the Suprene Court; the decision could be
appeal ed to that Court and, beyond three nonths, the Supreme Court
periodically exam ned the propriety of the extension. Nor could persons
subject to that regine be detained without charge for an unlimted period; the
conpetent authorities had to justify the need to extend the detention to a
judge. No Israeli resident was detained under an adm nistrative detention
order. Conversely, the neasure was applied to 86 persons fromthe occupied
territories, and to the Lebanese concerning whomthe Commttee had raised a
qguestion under item 20 of the list. To the question whether the review
procedures differed in the occupied territories and Israel, the reply was
affirmative, pursuant to an order dating back to the begi nning of the
intifada. Contrary to the procedure established in Israel, review of the
propriety of an adm nistrative detention ruling was no | onger automatic in the
occupied territories, but had to be sought by the detainee or his counsel

I nasnmuch as the nunber of persons held in adm nistrative detention was
declining, there were plans to revert to the previous provisions, which were




CCPR/ C/ SR. 1676
page 15

nodel l ed on the legislation applied in Israel, save in regard to the deadline
wi t hin which the decision nust be reviewed, which was 48 hours in Israel, as
opposed to 96 hours in the occupied territories.

50. M. BLASS (lsrael), replying to questions under item 18 of the I|ist,
concerning enforcenent of article 9 of the Covenant, pointed out that upon
rati fying the Covenant, Israel had nmade a declaration regarding the

mai nt enance of a state of enmergency for security reasons. For certain
security-related offences the time limt for the first appearance before a
judge could be a few days, even 15 days in the case of treason or espionage,
whi ch had extrenely grave inplications for State security. Fortunately,
however, such cases were very rare. Enforcenent of paragraph 3 of article 9
of the Covenant should therefore be viewed in the light of Israel's

decl aration concerning the nmai ntenance of the state of enmergency. He pointed
out, nonethel ess, that evidence permtting a person to be kept in detention
for 15 days wi t hout being brought before a judge needed to be exam ned by a
magi strate, who ruled on the continued detention for such a | ong period.

51. Concerning the question of information that might be withheld from

a detainee's counsel, he pointed out that in accordance with evidence
procedures, a mnistry could issue a certificate declaring certain evidence to
be confidential. However, the certificate was subjected to judicial contro
which, in the case of a breach of security, was exercised by a Suprene Court
judge. The court hearing the case could invalidate the certificate and order
t he evidence to be comunicated to the detainee or his counsel. 1In all cases,
if the court established that an item of evidence would prove the accused's

i nnocence, it required that it be comunicated to him In that event, it was
not unusual for the prosecution to withdraw the indictnment in order to protect
the life of the informer or inforners.

52. To the question whether the safeguards contained in article 9 of the
Covenant applied to Pal estinians detained by the Israeli authorities, he
replied that that in principle was so. The safeguards established in the
Geneva Conventions and those set forth in article 9 of the Covenant both
applied to Pal estinians. However, as he had said earlier, security reasons
could require a person to be detained in the occupied territories for 96 hours
bef ore appearing before a judge. The detention could be extended for a
further 96 hours by decision of a senior police officer. However, that did
not often occur and the person was usually brought before a judge at the
earliest opportunity.

53. Replying to item 19 of the list, he explained that all persons subject
totrial in mlitary courts under the Defence (Emergency) Regul ations were
initially brought before a judge in the civil courts and could | ater be handed
over to a mlitary tribunal, which mght order his detention. However, the
detention could not be notivated by the exigencies of the investigation, but
only occurred at the trial stage. Concerning the type of offence that canme
exclusively under mlitary jurisdiction, he referred Committee menbers to
provisions 57 to 65 of the aforenentioned Regul ati ons, explaining that a
person could be tried for the same crine in the mlitary and the civil courts.
Civilians were subject to those Regul ations; they could be tried in the
mlitary courts, but only in cases where the offence constituted a breach of
security. Any person detained under the Defence (Energency) Regul ati ons had



CCPR/ C/ SR. 1676
page 16

the right to be represented by counsel, and exam ned by a doctor inmediately
following his arrest. However, authorization to conmmunicate with counsel was
occasionally withheld during the early days following the arrest. 1In the case
of a security-related offence, the law currently in force in Israe

established a maxi num period of 21 days between arrest and first contact with
a lawer. For such a long period the agreenment of a district judge was
necessary. Famlies were of course notified of the arrest and often made
direct contact with the lawer, who then sought authorization fromthe
district court or the Supreme Court to contact his client. The appropriate
judicial authority was obliged to reply within 48 hours at the nost.

54. M. SCHOFEMAN (Israel), in connection with the first question under

item 20 of the list, repeated his earlier reply to the effect that the Israel
forces were not responsible for the detention without trial of Lebanese in the
Al -Khi an prison and other detention centres in southern Lebanon. He
considered the ruling of the Suprene Court on Administrative Appeal 10/94,

whi ch Conmittee nmenbers appeared to have in English translation, to be quite
explicit. He would nerely point out that, inasnuch as Israeli prisoners of
war had been held for years now, with their exact whereabouts unknown, the
conpetent authorities had deened it wise to keep in detention several Lebanese
whose fate woul d be di scussed during negotiations for the rel ease of the
Israeli prisoners of war. 1t was the view of the Supreme Court that to

rel ease those Lebanese woul d seriously conprom se the outconme of the
negoti ati ons.

55. M. BARDENSTEIN (Israel), replying to questions under item 21 of the
list, said that, according to information fromthe police, the standards
established in the new statutory provisions governing detention conditions
were fully applied, with two exceptions: the requirenment of one bed per
det ai nee, and conpul sory segregation of convicts and defendants. However, it
was expected that both those deficiencies would be remedied within a year or
so. The transfer of security detainees to prison establishnments was
contingent upon practical considerations; in other words, they were
transferred as soon as places becanme free.

56. Lastly, concerning the progranmes and facilities for pronoting the
rehabilitation of juvenile detainees, he stressed that the Prisons Service
organi zed four programmes for the rehabilitation of convicted mnors. Al
det ai nees were enrolled in a rehabilitation programe six nmonths prior to
their release. Counselling and psychol ogical help were al so provided, as were
classes in Arabic, devised by the Mnistry of Education. Al mnors had the
same right to fanmily visits as adult detainees. However, those who had
commtted security-related of fences were kept separate, did not benefit from
fully-fl edged rehabilitation programres, and were not authorized to |eave the
prem ses. That apart, they were subject to the sane treatnment and detention
conditions as other juvenile detainees and enjoyed the sane rights.

57. The CHAI RPERSON t hanked the Israeli delegation for its replies and
announced that the Comm ttee would continue its consideration of the initia
report of Israel (CCPR/ C/81/Add.13) at a forthconi ng session

The neeting rose at 6 p.m




